

End Point Assessment Handbook

Business Administration

ST0070

Qualification Number: 610/2610/4

Contents

1	Introduction	4
1.1	Apprenticeship standards	4
1.2	Who is this document for?	5
1.3	What ICA can offer for end-point assessment	5
1.4	Contact us	6
2.	The apprenticeship journey	7
2.1	On-programme learning (OPL)	7
2.2	Gateway to end-point assessment	7
2.3	End-point assessment	8
2.4	External EPA documents	11
2.5	Funding and EPA fees	12
2.6	Summary of roles and responsibilities	12
3.	ICA End Point Assessment Delivery	19
3.1	The ICA end point assessment delivery model	19
3.2	Appointment of ICA as the end-point assessment organisation (EPAO)	20
3.3	Working with apprenticeship training providers/employers	20
3.4	Apprentice registration	21
3.5	Scheduling the EPA	22
3.6	The location of EPAs	22
3.7	Cancellations	25
4.	Business Administrator Assessment Plan	27
4.1	End-point assessment structure	27
4.2	Length of EPA period	28
4.3	Order of assessment methods	28
4.4	EPA gateway	28
4.5	Assessment method 1: Knowledge Exam	30
4.6	Assessment method 2: Portfolio based interview	30
4.7	Assessment method 3: Project presentation	31
4.8	Grading of assessment	32

5 .	Assessment policies and procedures	34
5.1	ICA policies	34
5.2	Authentication	34
5.3	ICA EPA assessment principles	34
5.4	Independence of assessment	35
5.5	ICA assessors	35
5.6	Grading	37
5.7	Re-sits and re-takes	38
5.8	Apprenticeship results and certificates	39
5.9	Certification review or recall	39
6.	Grading and mapping of KSBs	41

1 Introduction

End-Point Assessment

All apprentices must take an independent assessment at the end of their apprenticeship training to confirm that they have achieved occupational competence.

Rigorous, robust and independent end-point assessment (EPA) is essential to give employers confidence that apprentices completing an apprenticeship standard can actually perform in the occupation they have been trained in and can demonstrate knowledge, skills and behaviours (KSBs) set out in the apprenticeship standard.

EPA can only be conducted by an independent end-point assessment organisation (EPAO).

The assessment plan for each standard outlines the assessment methods to be used.

EPAs are conducted by Independent End-Point Assessors (IEPA), who are assessment experts with the required occupational expertise.

International Compliance Association (ICA)

ICA is approved by the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) and listed on the apprenticeship provider and assessment register (APAR), register number EPA0097, to offer independent end-point assessment (EPA) services to employers and training providers with apprentices who are ready to take EPA.

ICA is regulated by the Office of Qualifications and Examinations Regulation (Ofqual) as an end-point assessment organisation (EPAO). The Ofqual Recognition Number is RN6068.

1.1 Apprenticeship standards

Apprenticeship standards, and their associated assessment plans, are designed by employers to show the KSBs an apprentice needs to perform effectively in their occupation.

Each apprenticeship standard has an accompanying assessment plan which sets out what will be assessed (the KSBs listed on the standard for each assessment component) and how it must be assessed.

Full details of the apprenticeship standards and the accompanying assessment plans can be found on the Institute for Apprenticeships & Technical Education's website at www.instituteforapprenticeships.org/apprenticeship-standards/?

Information regarding the assessment plan is provided in section 4 of this handbook and the KSBs are provided in section 6.

1.2 Who is this document for?

This document is for training providers, employers and apprentices using the ICA EPA service. This document details the process for the ICA EPA service, including:

- registration and booking
- the requirements and process for gateway
- · assessment requirements
- administration of the EPA
- quality-assurance processes
- results, certificates, re-sits, and re-takes.

The handbook should be read in conjunction with the ICA policies on Appeals, Reasonable Adjustment and Special Considerations, Malpractice and Maladministration, Internal Quality Assurance, and Complaints. These are available on the ICA website at https://www.int-comp.org/epao

The purpose of this handbook is to provide information about the processes for all stakeholders involved.

The information included is correct at the time of publication, although it may be updated in response to changes in funding rules, feedback from external quality assurance, or changes to the conditions for end-point assessment organisations. ICA will communicate when any changes have been made.

1.3 What ICA can offer for end-point assessment

ICA will provide:

- dedicated independent end-point assessors (IEPA) who are subject matter experts
- robust processes and quality assurance
- quick turnaround of results
- friendly, flexible, and responsive staff
- a fair and easy-to-understand pricing structure
- a simple scheduling process, with an administrative team on hand to support you at each stage

- a learning management system for apprentices to use for collating and submitting portfolios and accessing their assessment materials
- advice for organisations wishing to understand how EPA works, and
- guidance for apprentices and training providers on how the EPA will be conducted.

1.4 Contact us

If you require any further information or have any queries, please contact us at epa@int-comp.org or on 0121 362 7503.

2. The apprenticeship journey

There are three distinct phases of the apprenticeship:

- 1. on-programme learning (OPL)
- 2. gateway to end-point assessment, and
- 3. end-point assessment (EPA).

The details and requirements behind each of these stages are outlined in the associated apprenticeship standard and assessment plan for each apprenticeship.

2.1 On-programme learning (OPL)

On-programme learning is the phase in which apprentices develop the knowledge, skills, and behaviours (KSBs) set out in an apprenticeship standard which is assessed by the EPA.

This 'on-the-job' and 'off-the-job' training and learning develops the apprentice's KSBs. On-programme learning (OPL) must meet the requirements set out in the apprenticeship standard.

OPL can only be carried out by organisations that are on the apprenticeship provider and assessment register (APAR). This is a list of organisations that have been approved to carry out apprenticeship training and be in receipt of public funds.

The Register is maintained by the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) and employers can choose which training provider to use from this list.

Prior to commencing an apprenticeship, the employer may specify some prequalification requirements. These are at the discretion of the employer and do not impact the end-point assessment.

During this phase of the apprenticeship, the employer and provider must select and engage with an EPAO. This can be at any time but to ensure timely delivery of the end-point assessment the dialogue must commence at least six months before the planned end date of the apprenticeship. Refer to section 3.2–3.4 for details on selection and registration.

2.2 Gateway to end-point assessment

Towards the end of the OPL, the employer, the apprentice and the training provider will decide whether or not the apprentice is ready for their EPA. This stage of the programme is known as the gateway and will confirm that:

- the apprentice has gained the required experience, across the occupational duties, to meet the KSBs specified in the standard, and be competent in their job role.
- The employer is satisfied the apprentice is consistently working at, or above, the level of the standard
- the apprentice has achieved maths and English at level 21
- the minimum duration of the apprenticeship has been met.

As part of the booking process (see later sections), employers must complete and sign the ICA Gateway Declaration Form for their apprentices.

This form:

- confirms that both the employer and training provider are satisfied that the apprentice has completed all relevant OPL and met all other requirements for progressing to the EPA.
- requires the apprentice, employer, and training provider to confirm that work completed
 and submitted by the apprentice is their own unaided work, and that portfolios and
 projects are new pieces of work (i.e. not produced previously outside the apprenticeship
 programme) and produced as original work by the apprentice
- asks whether the apprentice has any special educational needs or disability and if they require any adjustment to the assessment processes or tools. ICA will review any required arrangements or adjustment as set out in our EPA Reasonable Adjustment Policy.

The ESFA funding rules confirm that it is the responsibility of the employer and training provider to confirm that the apprentice is ready for end-point assessment, and that the gateway criteria to progress to their end-point assessment have been met.

2.3 End-point assessment

End-point assessment is taken by the apprentice once they have completed the OPL and allows an apprentice to demonstrate the required KSBs to complete and pass their apprenticeship. EPAs are graded as defined in the published assessment plan. This is summarised in section 4 of this document.

¹ For those with an education, health and care plan or a legacy statement, the apprenticeship's English and maths minimum requirement is Entry Level 3. A British Sign Language (BSL) qualification is an alternative to the English qualification for those whose primary language is BSL.

ICA has designed an easy-to-use, high-quality EPA service delivering secure, valid, robust, and independent assessments.

The EPA for an apprenticeship standard is the same for all apprentices regardless of any prior learning or professional experience.

ICA does not recognise any prior learning or prior qualifications as part of the EPA. The EPA will be fully independent of any work completed during the OPL stage of the apprenticeship. The results for any coursework or assignments set by the training provider cannot count towards the EPA and will not be taken into consideration when completing the EPA.

Successful completion of the EPA demonstrates that the apprentice is competent in their role and will result in the award of the apprenticeship certificate by the Institute for Apprenticeships and Technical Education (IfATE).

ICA has developed the EPA to reflect all the requirements of the apprenticeship assessment plan, providing assessments that are fit for purpose and meet the regulatory requirements.

Below we explain how our development and delivery processes results in EPAs that meet the regulatory requirements of validity, reliability, comparability, manageability, and minimising bias.

Validity

Validity is defined as the extent to which evidence and theory support the interpretation that the assessment outcomes meet their intended uses.

We meet the validity criteria by using assessment and subject experts to ensure that our assessments meet the requirements of the apprenticeship standard assessment plan published by the Institute for Apprenticeships and Technical Education. This includes the KSBs that are being assessed, the assessment methods prescribed and the grade descriptors.

Reliability

This is about consistency and the extent to which the various stages in the assessment process generate outcomes, which would be replicated where the assessment is repeated.

We meet the reliability criteria by:

- having clear, understandable assessment administration instructions for assessors
- having clear, understandable instructions and assessment materials for apprentices
- training assessors in both the delivery and assessment of responses

- providing clear assessment materials and guidance that reduce the likelihood of variation between assessors, such as question banks for professional discussions and oral assessment
- monitoring assessments either at the time of delivery (live observations) or afterwards (judgements and recordings)
- standardisation of assessment judgements
- reviewing outcomes and data to identify and address possible reliability issues.

Comparability

Comparability relates to generating assessment outcomes that are comparable in standard between assessments within an apprenticeship, between similar apprenticeships, with other awarding organisations, and over time.

Where an assessment has equivalent forms then it is important to ensure comparability of outcomes.

We meet the comparability criteria by:

- using subject experts to develop assessment instruments that they believe are similar in difficulty and comparable in standards to those previously developed
- standardising assessment outcomes
- periodically looking across our portfolio of EPAs with subject experts to compare the level of difficulty and expected attainment to ensure that standards are comparable
- working with the External Quality Assurer (Ofqual), for the apprenticeship standards we are approved to deliver, to achieve comparability within our own assessments and those of other EPAOs delivering the same standards.

Manageability

Manageability relates to the feasibility of carrying out particular assessment processes. A manageable assessment process is one which places reasonable demands on apprentices.

We meet the manageability criteria by:

- following the arrangements in the apprenticeship assessment plan carefully ensuring that
 we meet all delivery requirements, such as the length and time allowed for an assessment
- ensuring that the administrative requirements of our EPAs are appropriate, and that administrative tasks are as simple as possible and do not introduce any unnecessary burden on the employer, training provider or apprentice

• Ensuring that our assessment materials and supporting documents are easily accessible and are written in plain English.

Minimising bias

Minimising bias is about ensuring that an assessment does not produce unreasonably adverse outcomes for apprentices who share a common attribute.

We meet the minimising bias criteria by:

- considering and proactively addressing any potential biases during the development of our assessment materials
- training our assessors on how to prevent bias in the delivery of assessments and when making assessment judgements
- being committed to ensuring that all are treated fairly and with dignity as outlined in our Equal Opportunities and Diversity policies
- having robust Reasonable Adjustment and Special Considerations policies that aim to ensure that no apprentice is unfairly disadvantaged
- monitoring applications for reasonable adjustments and special considerations, along with apprentice, employer, training provider and assessor feedback to identify opportunities for improvements so unidentified bias can be addressed proactively rather than reactively.

It is important to note that ICA does not have any EPA centres. ICA does not permit employers or training providers to undertake any part in the delivery of end-point assessments (including the invigilation of assessments). They are therefore not acting as centres since ICA never delegates any activity for end-point assessments to a third party.

ICA produces its own support materials, guidance, and sample assessment materials to prepare apprentices for our end-point assessments. It does not endorse any materials or resources used by the training provider or their employer to deliver on-programme training as part of the apprenticeship.

2.4 External EPA documents

The IfATE is responsible for several documents that support the delivery and assessment of apprenticeships. These are available at: https://www.instituteforapprenticeships.org/
Apprenticeship-standards/ and include the following documents.

Apprenticeship standard – sets the key requirements for the apprenticeship including the KSBs. Apprenticeship standards also capture the minimum duration of the apprenticeship and any required qualifications.

Assessment plan – details the requirements for EPA including:

- what is required for EPA
- what will be assessed
- · how it will be assessed, and
- how the overall apprenticeship will be graded.

The assessment plan will also include details of any qualifications (the on-programme phase) that are required to be completed before the EPA, either prior to starting or during the apprenticeship.

2.5 Funding and EPA fees

Apprenticeship standards fall into funding bands. These are the maximum amounts that the government considers to be needed to finance the apprenticeship, including EPA.

Funding rules state that the costs for the EPA should not usually exceed 20% of the funding band.

The EPA fee is published on the ICA website. The published fee includes all work associated with the EPA.

A separate fee is charged for any resits or retakes where apprentices do not pass their assessment. Section 5.7 of this handbook contains information on resitting or retaking assessments.

ICA will invoice for 10% of the EPA fee to be paid at the point that apprentices are formally registered with us. This initial fee is non-refundable.

The remainder (90%) of the fee must be paid per apprentice once the EPA has taken place.

Section 3.7 of this handbook contains information on our cancellation policy and cancellation fees.

2.6 Summary of roles and responsibilities

The table below summarises the responsibilities of the key stakeholders across the different phases of the apprenticeship and EPA delivery.

The apprenticeship plan may also include responsibilities that are specific to the individual apprenticeship. Where there is a conflict between the details noted below and the assessment plan, it is the information within the assessment plan that will be followed.

Organisation	Role
	As a minimum, the apprentice's employer must:
	 work with the training provider (where applicable) to support the apprentice in the workplace and to provide the opportunities for the apprentice to develop the KSBs
	 arrange and support off-the-job training to be undertaken by the apprentice
	 decide when the apprentice is working at or above the occupational standard and is ready for EPA
	• ensure that supporting evidence required at the gateway is submitted in line with this EPA plan
Employer	 liaise with the training provider and ICA to ensure the EPA is booked in a timely manner.
Linployer	Post-gateway, the employer must:
	 confirm arrangements with the ICA for the EPA (who, when, where) in a timely manner (including providing access to any employer-specific documentation as required, for example company policies)
	 ensure that the EPA is scheduled for a date and time which allows the opportunity for the apprentice to be assessed against the KSBs
	remain independent from the delivery of the EPA
	 ensure the apprentice is given sufficient time away from regular duties to prepare for, and complete, all post-gateway elements of the EPA, and that any required supervision during this time (as stated within this EPA plan) is in place
	pass the apprenticeship certificate to the apprentice upon receipt.

Organisation	Role
	As a minimum, the training provider must:
	 work with the employer and support the apprentice during the off-the- job training to provide the opportunities to develop the KSBs as listed in the occupational standard
	• conduct training covering the KSBs agreed as part of the Commitment Statement or the Individual Learning Plan
	 monitor the apprentice's progress during any training provider-led on- programme learning
	• advise the employer, upon request, on the apprentice's readiness for EPA
Training	remain independent from the delivery of the EPA
Provider	 confirm apprentice eligibility and readiness for end-point assessment, including mandatory maths and English qualifications
	• signs off the apprentice as ready for EPA (gateway)
	supports apprentice's preparations for EPA
	 submits apprentice data securely to the ICA as part of registration, including confirmation of apprentice consent to share their data with the EPAO and the IfATE
	works with ICA to schedule EPA activities
	maintains a continuing duty of care for the apprentice as they undertake EPA.

Organisation	Role
	As a minimum, the ICA must:
	 conform to the requirements of this EPA plan and deliver its requirements in a timely manner
	conform to the requirements of the APAR
	• conform to the requirements of the external quality assurance provider (Ofqual) for this apprenticeship
	understand the occupational standard
	 make the EPA contractual arrangements, including agreeing the price of the EPA
	 develop and produce assessment materials as detailed for each assessment method in this EPA plan
ICA as the End-Point	 appoint qualified and competent independent assessors in line with the requirements of this EPA plan to conduct assessments and oversee their working
Assessment Organisation	 appoint administrators (and invigilators where required) to administer the EPA
	 provide training for independent assessors in terms of good assessment practice, operating the assessment tools and grading
	 provide information, advice, guidance and documentation to enable apprentices, employers and training providers to prepare for the EPA
	• confirm all gateway requirements have been met as quickly as possible
	• arrange for the EPA to take place, in consultation with the employer
	 ensure that the apprentice has access to the required resources and liaise with the employer to agree this if necessary, where the apprentice is not assessed in the workplace
	 develop and provide assessment recording documentation to ensure a clear and auditable process is in place for providing assessment decisions and feedback to stakeholders

Organisation	Role
	 have no direct connection with the apprentice, their employer or training provider in all instances; there must be no conflict of interest
	 have policies and procedures for internal quality assurance (IQA), and maintain records of IQA activity for external quality assurance (EQA) purposes
	deliver induction training for independent assessors
	undertake standardisation activity on apprenticeships
	maintain security of the assessment in line with the EPAO's malpractice policy
	verify the identity of the apprentice
	 use language in the development and delivery of the EPA that is appropriate to the level of the occupational standard.

Organisation	Role
	As a minimum, an independent assessor must:
	 have the competence to assess the apprentice at the level of this apprenticeship and hold any required qualifications and experience in line with the requirements of the independent assessor as detailed in the IQA section of the EPA plan
	• understand the occupational standard and the requirements of this EPA
	have, maintain, and be able to evidence up-to-date knowledge and expertise of the occupation
	deliver the end-point assessment in-line with this EPA plan
	comply with the IQA requirements of the ICA
Independent End-Point	 have no direct connection or conflict of interest with the apprentice, their employer or training provider; in all instances; there must be no conflict of interest
Assessor, appointed by	attend induction training
ICA	 attend standardisation events when they start working for the ICA before they conduct an EPA for the first time and a minimum of annually for this apprenticeship
	assess each assessment method, as determined by the EPA plan
	assess the KSBs assigned to each assessment method, as shown in the mapping of KSBs to assessment methods in this EPA plan
	make the grading decisions
	 record and report assessment outcome decisions, for each apprentice, following instructions and using assessment recording documentation provided by the ICA, in a timely manner
	 use language in the development and delivery of the EPA that is appropriate to the level of the occupational standard.

Organisation	Role
	As a minimum, the apprentice should:
	• participate in and complete on-programme training to meet the KSBs as outlined in the occupational standard for a minimum of 12 months
Apprentice	 complete the required amount of off-the-job training specified by the apprenticeship funding rules and as arranged by the employer and training provider
	understand the purpose and importance of EPA
	meet the gateway requirements.

Exclusions:

- The ICA EPAO, including the appointed assessor (IEPA), must not be involved in any aspect of the on-programme learning or training.
- The training provider and employer must not be involved in any aspect of EPA delivery or final grading.

More information on the responsibilities of employer, training providers, EPAOs and apprentices can be found here: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/apprenticeship-gateway-and-resits-for-end-point-assessment-epa

3. ICA End Point Assessment Delivery

3.1 The ICA end point assessment delivery model



ICA is appointed as the EPAO.

This includes:

- confirmation of appointment as the EPAO
- signing of a contract for services
- discussing expected dates for gateway.



Support on preparing for EPA.

This includes:

- clarifying the requirements of the assessment plan
- helping organisations to prepare their apprentices for assessment
- discussing the expected volumes and schedule of assessment.



Registering apprentices with ICA.

This includes:

- receiving a data file of the apprentices and registration details
- taking an initial payment of 10% of the total EPA fee
- providing apprentices with access to the ICA online EPA platform.



Scheduling of EPA.

This includes:

- checking gateway evidence
- confirming assessment dates, times and deadlines.



Preparing apprentices for their EPA.

This includes:

- assisting with the upload of portfolios or other written forms of evidence
- reacting to any individual circumstances, requests for reasonable adjustments or special access arrangements.



Conducting the EPA assessment.

Assessments are arranged by the EPA team and take place with your allocated assessor.

More information on the process for appointment and registration is provided within the sections below.

3.2 Appointment of ICA as the end-point assessment organisation (EPAO)

Where an organisation (employer or training provider) has appointed ICA to conduct EPA, we require the following information.

- · Organisation name
- Organisation address
- · Main contact name and job title
- Main contact number and email
- Main booker contact name, job title, number and email (if different)
- Finance contact name and email address (if different)
- The name of the organisation that is drawing down the public funding and completes the Individualised Learner Record (ILR)
- Apprenticeship standard title(s)
- Apprenticeship standard reference(s)
- Apprenticeship level(s)
- Estimated number of apprentices in pipeline per standard
- Apprenticeship start date
- Apprenticeship planned end date
- Estimated date of end-point gateway assessment

3.3 Working with apprenticeship training providers/employers

ICA will only engage with training providers and employers that are on the apprenticeship provider and assessment register (APAR). The APAR is a list of organisations that are eligible to receive government funding to train apprentices.

When we work with an organisation for the first time, we will ask them to provide the following information:

- the organisation's UK Provider Reference Number (UKPRN)
- the organisation's name (i.e. the organisation's name under which they are registered on the APAR)

- provider type either 'Main Provider' or 'Supporting Provider.' If they are a Supporting Provider, we require the details of the Main Provider with which they are working
- organisation office address and contact details
- the names of the organisation key contact for EPA delivery, and
- the details of the employer(s) whose apprentices they are providing training.

Organisations are asked to sign a contract with ICA that sets out the terms and conditions of business.

Once contracts have been signed, ICA will arrange to meet the training provider to discuss the EPA process and timeframes for assessment.

3.4 Apprentice registration

The training provider must give accurate information to ensure all information used to register apprentices is correct.

To register the apprentices for EPA, training providers must provide a secure data file with the following information for each apprentice:

- apprentice full name
- · apprentice email address
- Unique Learner Number (ULN)
- apprenticeship standard
- apprenticeship start date
- anticipated Gateway date
- apprentice additional requirements e.g. a reasonable adjustment such as dyslexic
- apprentice employer
- employer address (apprentice main base)
- employer contact name
- · employer email
- employer contact number

- EPA Contracted Price
- PO number/invoice reference for 10% registration fee.

Apprentices must be registered with ICA no less than three months before their anticipated entry to the EPA.

At the point of registration ICA will provide the apprentice with access to our online EPA platform where they can begin to build any portfolio or upload documents that are required within the assessment plan.

3.5 Scheduling the EPA

ICA has scheduled gateway windows every two months. We provide details of the schedule of gateway windows (and the associated assessment dates) to employers and/or training providers. This schedule shows the dates for apprentices expected to go through gateway in that window, any submission deadline dates, and the EPA assessment timescales. This allows employers and/or training providers to decide which gateway window to select.

EPA delivery can only commence once EPA gateway requirements have been met. ICA will retain a record to prove we have seen and checked evidence that the apprentice has met the gateway requirements, signed the gateway declaration form and completed any mandated qualifications.

ICA will then agree the date and time of the EPA with the apprentice and formally confirm the booking by email.

3.6 The location of EPAs

ICA's default method for assessment is for EPAs to be conducted remotely online. Face-to-face assessment may be offered where the apprentice has a specific individual need that means that online assessment would not be appropriate or where the ICA has agreed to face-to-face assessment at the point that the contract was signed.

ICA will provide apprentices with the necessary guidance and instructions relating to online assessment and will provide training providers and employers with guidance on how they are able to support their apprentices with the assessment.

The apprentice is responsible (in consultation with their employer or training provider) for ensuring that they conduct their assessment in a suitable and appropriate environment.

The apprentice will be responsible for ensuring that any equipment (including IT facilities) required to complete the assessment is available and that any access requirements are appropriately supported.

The apprentice must also pay attention to conditions such as heating, lighting, ventilation, and the level of outside noise. As a minimum, the following criteria should be met.

- A private room that is free from interruption.
- Suitable notices placed outside of the room to reduce noise and distraction.
- A comfortable and safe environment.
- Accessible to people of all levels of physical ability.
- Access to toilets and refreshments for apprentices.

Assessment arrangements

- The assessment will take place with the ICA assessor using Microsoft Teams.
- Confirmation of the date and time of the assessment will be sent out to the apprentice by the EPA team in advance.

The MS Teams link will be emailed to the apprentice by the EPA team prior to the date of the assessment which must be accepted.

Equipment and system requirements

Apprentices must have a device to access the Internet (laptop, PC, mobile device) with a microphone and webcam/camera. The ICA assessor must be able to see and hear them for the duration of the assessment.

An Internet connection is required to access the assessment using MS Teams. It is important there is a good Wi-Fi connection in the room.

ID check requirements

Apprentices are required to show proof of identity. They must present one item from the following, which must show a photograph and signature:

- Current valid passport (any nationality)
- Employee ID card
- Current full or provisional UK photo card driving licence

Assessment conditions and regulations

Apprentices must behave professionally and honestly at all times during the assessment and ensure that their conduct does not compromise the integrity of the EPA.

Apprentices who access the MS Teams assessment more than 10 minutes late will not be permitted to progress with the assessment. If an apprentice is late for an accepted valid reason, the ICA may agree to the assessment being re-scheduled.

Apprentices who are more than 10 minutes late and do not have a valid reason will be recorded as absent for the assessment and be required to retake the assessment at a later date. An administrative fee may be applied to cover the cost of the new assessment.

Non-compliance with assessment

ICA investigates any potential breaches of the assessment conditions and regulations in accordance with the ICA Malpractice and Maladministration Policy.

The following list sets out examples of violations. This list is not exhaustive and any other actions/behaviours which may compromise the integrity of the EPA will be investigated.

- Failing to show valid ID (as identified above).
- Being in possession of an unauthorised device to access the Internet or receive communications in the room (e.g. including but not limited to a second mobile device, smart watch, portable media player, e-reader, PDA, or similar device) during the assessment.
- Communicating with or attempting to communicate with anyone other than the ICA assessor during the assessment.
- Arranging to be impersonated by another individual in an assessment.
- Refusing to follow the ICA assessor's instructions.
- Misleading an ICA assessor in relation to their competence.
- Having another person present in the room at any point during an assessment.
- Smoking or vaping during an assessment.
- Altering or interfering with ICA assessment documentation, for example, results notifications.

Further information regarding the delivery of the assessment that is specific to the individual apprenticeship may be provided in section 4 of this document.

If the EPA takes place at an employer or training provider's premises, they are classified as a third party and not a centre because they are not:

- taking delivery of written question papers in advance of the assessment
- handing out written question papers to apprentices

- setting up online assessments
- · delivering instructions to apprentices before the assessment commences, and
- invigilating or collecting written responses to assessment and sending to ICA.

We do not permit employers or training providers to undertake any part in the delivery of EPAs, including the invigilation of assessments. For controlled assessment such as an online knowledge exam, they are delivered using ICA's online EPA platform and are remotely invigilated.

3.7 Cancellations

Under some circumstances it may be necessary for either employers, ICA or an apprentice to cancel EPAs that have been booked.

ICA reserves the right to cancel or stop the EPA, either in advance or during the EPA. Reasons for this may include:

- a lack of access to required equipment or resources
- health and safety concerns
- concerns over the authenticity of materials submitted as part of the assessment
- the apprentice being absent or unwell
- assessors or panel members being absent or unwell, and it is not possible to replace them, and
- potential malpractice being identified.

In the unlikely event that ICA must cancel a booked EPA, we will inform the apprentice, employer, and training provider prior to the EPA date by email. A member of the EPA team will contact the training provider/employer to discuss the cancellation and future availability.

Where ICA or the appointed assessor has cause to cancel an EPA immediately before or during the assessment, they will contact the apprentice, employer, and training provider by email to provide the reasons and the next steps to be taken.

Any decisions taken by the ICA or the assessor relating to the cancellation of an EPA due to suspected malpractice would be subject to the ICA Malpractice Policy and apprentices and employers would have the rights outlined within our complaints and appeals policies.

Where an issue that leads to an EPA being stopped are resolved on the day, (for example by providing more appropriate resources, addressing any concerns or delays to mitigate

for feeling unwell) the assessor will make every effort to complete the assessment on the same date. Where this is not possible it will be rearranged by ICA for the next mutually convenient time and date.

If the employer or apprentice decides to cancel prior to the confirmed EPA date, they must contact the ICA EPA team to inform them. Please note the employer may be subject to some or all of the EPA fee (including if the apprentice cancels), depending on the circumstances as outlined in our Fees and Invoicing Policy.

Cancellation fees for the EPA will be applied as follows.

- Less than five days (96 hours) before the date and time set for the assessment: 50% of the value of the EPA fee.
- Less than 24 hours before the date and time set for the assessment: 100% of the value of the EPA fee.

Please note that non-attendance at an assessment without an acceptable reason will result in the apprentice recorded as being absent for the assessment and they be required to retake the assessment at a later date. An administrative fee may be applied to cover the cost of the new assessment.

4. Business Administrator Assessment Plan

This section sets out the requirements for EPA for the Business Administrator apprenticeship standard.

Full-time apprentices will typically spend 18 months on-programme (before the Gateway) working towards the occupational standard, with a minimum of 20% off-the-job training. All apprentices will spend a minimum of 12 months on-programme.

The EPA period should only start, and the EPA be arranged, once the employer is satisfied that the apprentice is deemed to be consistently working at or above the level set out in the occupational standard, all of the pre-requisite gateway requirements for EPA have been met.

4.1 End-point assessment structure

The EPA consists of three assessment methods components.

- 1. A 60-minute knowledge exam.
- 2. A 45-minute portfolio based interview.
- 3. A 30-minute project presentation.

Each assessment will assess different KSBs – more information about the KSBs and criteria that are assessment in assessment is provided in Section 6.

For each assessment component, further time may be granted for apprentices with appropriate needs, in-line with the ICA Reasonable Adjustment and Special Consideration Policy.

The result from each assessment method is combined to determine the overall EPA grade. See section 4.7 for information on how the overall grade is determined.

All assessments are mandatory, and the ICA will assess all areas of the EPA.

The combination of the three assessment methods builds a cumulative picture of performance against the standard.

They require apprentices to demonstrate the application of knowledge, skills and behaviours in an integrated manner to deliver the required outcomes, enabling the assessor to make a holistic judgement about how well the apprentice meets or exceeds the standard.

All assessments will be conducted online and will be recorded for quality assurance purposes. The recordings will be retained according to ICA quality assurance requirement and General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) guidelines.

4.2 Length of EPA period

The EPA will be completed within an EPA period typically lasting a maximum of three months, beginning when the apprentice has gone through the EPA Gateway.

If an EPA assessment method is failed, it should be retaken within the typical EPA period and in-line with the requirements set out in this assessment plan.

ICA will schedule the initial assessment to provide contingency for any retake to be completed within the three-month period.

4.3 Order of assessment methods

The ICA will conduct the assessments in the following order.

- 1. Knowledge exam
- 2. Interview
- 3. Project presentation

The knowledge test should be passed, before progressing to interview and presentation.

4.4 EPA gateway

At the point of going through gateway, the apprentices must submit a portfolio of evidence to underpin the interview to the ICA.

The project to be used within the presentation is to be completed before the gateway can be triggered.

Portfolio

For the interview underpinned by portfolio, the apprentice will be required to submit a portfolio.

The portfolio is a collection of evidence and a record of activity, progress and achievement, showing what the apprentice has completed during their training and the development of their knowledge, skills and behaviours.

The portfolio is based on work completed by the apprentice and can be drawn from all areas of work undertaken on-programme.

At least one component of the portfolio should include a practical observation and/or evaluation by the employer, such as acknowledgement of a skill shown or evidencing work completed on a particular project with the manager's comments. This observation will then be discussed at interview.

ICA will not assess the portfolio of evidence directly as it underpins the interview. The assessor will review the portfolio of evidence to prepare questions for the interview.

The portfolio should only contain evidence related to the KSBs that will be assessed by this assessment method. ICA provides a mapping document for the apprentice to map the contents of their portfolio to the KSBs within the standard to show the relevance of each piece of evidence and to show how they have covered all of the necessary KSBs.

The portfolio will typically contain a maximum of 15 discrete pieces of evidence. One piece of evidence can be referenced against more than one knowledge, skill, or behavioural requirement.

The types of evidence sources can include a range of workplace documentation and records, for example:

- workplace policies and procedures
- feedback from line managers or other stakeholders
- reports, plans, presentations, spreadsheets
- witness statements
- annotated images or photographs
- video clips; the apprentice must be in view and identifiable.

This is not a definitive list: other evidence sources can be included.

The portfolio of evidence should not include reflective accounts or any methods of self-assessment. Any employer contributions should focus on direct observation of performance (for example, witness statements) rather than opinions.

The evidence provided should be valid and attributable to the apprentice; the portfolio of evidence should contain a statement from the employer and apprentice confirming this. Apprentices must highlight their own role when submitting evidence that has been derived from group work activities.

Apprentices are responsible for ensuring that they have permission to include any confidential or sensitive information, or anything that identifies any third party.

Where there is a need to respect any confidentiality or sensitive material, apprentices can provide details in anonymised form or with key details redacted/changed as appropriate. If they are unsure as to whether it is okay to include any information, they should first discuss it with their employer.

Apprentices should avoid including evidence that is redacted to the extent that it prevents the assessor being able to understand its relevance to the KSBs and apprenticeship standard.

4.5 Assessment method 1: Knowledge Exam

The exam consists of 50 equally weighted multi-choice questions with four possible answers each.

The exams will be sat under controlled conditions (timed and invigilated). The exam will take place on a specified date and at a set start time.

The exam will be sat via the ICA apprenticeship platform and will become available to the apprentice only at the designated time and date.

ICA question bank

ICA has developed a bank of questions of sufficient size to prevent predictability and to ensure that each area of knowledge is assessed in equal measure.

The questions will be reviewed in terms of performance and validity each year, and items added and removed as required after analysis.

Specimen exam paper

ICA provides a sample paper that can be used by apprentices to familiarise themselves with the format of questions and to practice working under timed conditions.

4.6 Assessment method 2: Portfolio based interview

This assessment will take the form of an interview based on the portfolio of evidence generated by the apprentice during their apprenticeship.

It will be structured to provide the apprentice with the opportunity to evidence their competence and cover the KSBs assigned to this assessment method.

It will involve questions that will focus on coverage of prior learning and/or activity.

The assessment will last for up 45 minutes.1

The questions will be chosen to authenticate evidence within the portfolio and/or to assess any of the KSBs not evidenced within the portfolio.

The apprentice can refer to their portfolio during the discussion should they wish to.

^{1.} The assessor has the discretion to increase the time of the professional discussion by up to 10% to allow the apprentice to complete their last answer. Further time may be granted for apprentices with appropriate needs, in-line with the ICA Reasonable Adjustment Policy.

Delivery

The ICA-appointed assessors will conduct the interview via an online meeting platform.

The apprentice should be in an environment that is comfortable and where they will be free from distraction or disturbance for the full duration of the assessment.

ICA will require the assessor to verify the identity of the apprentice and ensure the apprentice is not being aided in any way. This check will be carried out at the start of the assessment.

The apprentice should have access to suitable technology to support their participation in the assessment e.g., a laptop or PC with working Internet access, webcam and microphone/speakers that allow two-way communication with the assessor.

4.7 Assessment method 3: Project presentation

The apprentice delivers a presentation on a project they have completed or a process they have improved.

The project should be completed from month nine of the apprenticeship so that the apprentice can apply the knowledge, skills and behaviours they have developed during their apprenticeship. The project must be completed prior to EPA being triggered.

The apprentice may work as part of a project team to complete the work on which the presentation is based, which could include internal colleagues or technical experts. The apprentice must, however, complete their presentation unaided and they must be reflective of their own role and contribution.

The apprentice chooses the project/process improvement to use for their EPA, with the guidance of the employer and training provider. As part of this choice they should ensure that the project or process improvement chose will:

- account for 21-35 working hours, over the apprenticeship, to adequately apply themselves
- be work-based and relevant to their job role
- incorporate scoping, planning, managing, communicating to stakeholders, monitoring and reporting results
- provide sufficient scope to demonstrate all of the KSBs assigned to this assessment at pass and distinction levels (see Section 6 for details).

The project will be submitted to the ICA and the apprentice will then be set a question to answer in the presentation, for example:

- How have you improved a process or operating practice?
- What were the steps you took to implement the project?
- What worked well and how would you improve the results in future?

The presentation should summarise the aim, outcome and responsibilities of the KSBs shown in the project.

The presentation should demonstrate how they approached the task and the skills shown in doing so, building towards how they would improve the results going forward.

The presentation focuses on the skills required to complete a project or process improvement, including planning and organisation, project management, demonstrating quality standards and decision making in prioritising areas of focus.

Evidencing these skills in the presentation is coupled with effective communication in delivery. Please see Section 6 for the minimum KSBs to be assessed.

Delivery

The ICA-appointed assessors will conduct the interview via an online meeting platform.

The presentation lasts 10–15 minutes, with a further 10–15 minutes for a Q&A session.

The apprentice should be in an environment that is comfortable and where they will be free from distraction or disturbance for the full duration of the assessment.

ICA will require the assessor to verify the identity of the apprentice and ensure the apprentice is not being aided in any way. This check will be carried out at the start of the assessment.

The apprentice should have access to suitable technology to support their participation in the assessment e.g., a laptop or PC with working Internet access, webcam and microphone/speakers that allow two-way communication with the assessor.

The presentation is expected to be produced using Microsoft Office PowerPoint, demonstrating a minimum level of IT skills.

4.8 Grading of assessment

This EPA has fail, pass, and distinction grades.

Each assessment method will be grade fail, pass or distinction. Apprentices will be graded on each of the three assessments in accordance with the criteria outlined in Section 6.

To pass an assessment, apprentices must evidence all of the pass criteria

To achieve a distinction, apprentices must demonstrate evidence all of the pass criteria, and all of the distinction criteria within the specified assessment method.

All of the KSBs that are essential for an apprentice to be deemed as competent are reflected in the pass assessment criteria for the EPA.

All three methods are weighted equally.

The knowledge test should be passed, before progressing to interview and presentation.

The below descriptions provide expectations for the grading levels and a further specified criteria is provided in Section 6.

Fail – apprentice has not met the pass criteria The apprentice has not sufficiently evidenced the knowledge, skills and behaviours to meet the Standard. There has been a shortfall in demonstrating the KSBs on at least one of the assessment methods.

Pass – apprentice has met the pass criteria in all assessment methods. The apprentice has shown an adequate level of performance across the Standard. They can evidence a basic level of knowledge, understanding and application in demonstrating the learning outcomes. In particular, use of basic IT packages, communicating with different stakeholders, producing accurate records and documentation, and demonstrating learning of the working environment.

Distinction – apprentice has met the pass and distinction criteria in all assessment methods. The apprentice has shown a high degree of expertise across the Standard. They can evidence knowledge, understanding and application of learning. They can reflect on their own learning, evaluate their own performance and improve their performance in demonstrating specific learning, especially in how their role supports the wider team. Sharing learning with others, and seeking to promote best practice, is likely to warrant a distinction in addition to the other requirements of the Standard.

5. Assessment policies and procedures

5.1 ICA policies

ICA publishes policies on:

- Appeals
- · Reasonable Adjustment and Special Considerations
- Malpractice and Maladministration
- · Internal Quality Assurance
- · Complaints.

These are available on the ICA website at https://www.int-comp.org/epao

ICA is committed to complying with regulatory requirements and the conditions stated in Ofqual's General Conditions of Recognition, and has written policies that ensure our continued compliance.

5.2 Authentication

Before any assessment takes place, the apprentice will be required to provide photographic proof of identify (e.g., a passport, driving license or employee identification card) to their assessor. This is to enable the assessor to verify the identity of the apprentice.

The employer and training provider confirm that work submitted by the apprentice was completed without undue or excessive assistance and that portfolios and projects are new pieces of work on the ICA Gateway Declaration form. The apprentice is also required to confirm that the work that they have submitted is their own unaided work.

Where any sources are used, either in a portfolio or a project, they must be appropriately referenced. The wholesale copying of materials is actively discouraged; where this occurs, it will be considered plagiarism and will be dealt with as described in the Malpractice and Maladministration Policy. The questions asked during an interview or professional discussion contribute to authentication of an apprentice's work.

5.3 ICA EPA assessment principles

EPA is the process of forming a judgement about an apprentice's attainment of the required KSBs relevant to specific job roles.

ICA is committed to providing assessment that will satisfy the following three principles.

Educational: the processes of assessment will help apprentices learn, or reinforce previous learning, or both.

Ethical: the processes of assessment will be fair and transparent, and must not discriminate according to gender, sexual orientation, ethnicity, religion or belief, age, social class, or disability.

Regulatory: the processes of assessment will conform to ICA expectations detailed in its regulations, policies, procedures and guidance and all relevant external regulatory bodies.

5.4 Independence of assessment

The EPA will be an independent assessment of an apprentice's competence. The decision on whether an apprentice has passed their EPA, and what their final grade should be, will be taken by someone who has no vested interest in this decision or relationship to the apprentice. This will ensure that all apprentices are treated fairly and helps to maintain trust in the robustness of the EPA system.

The assessor will be independent and will make the grading decisions, subject to ratification by the ICA. The EPA will be delivered so that no organisation or individual connected to the apprentice or their employer, or who has been involved in the management or training of the apprentice, will be their assessor (that is to say, there will be no conflict of interest).

The assessor will not be employed by the same organisation as the apprentice or by their training provider.

5.5 ICA assessors

ICA provides independent end-point assessors who are subject matter experts.

Assessors

The assessor is responsible for EPA activities under the conditions, timescales and arrangements set by ICA, and in accordance with the apprenticeship assessment plan.

The role of our assessors is to assess apprentice competence against the specific requirements of the standard as set out in the apprenticeship assessment plan.

They will:

 review evidence submitted by the apprentice and assess it using the associated templates provided by ICA

- prepare a plan and questions for any oral assessment
- conduct assessments and record the outcomes
- complete and return ICA reporting forms for all EPA assessment(s)
- implement any approved reasonable adjustments correctly to ensure that all apprentices have equal opportunity to succeed, and
- identify and report any suspected maladministration, malpractice, or conflict of interest.

Monitoring assessors' performance

ICA is committed to ensuring that assessment decisions:

- are accurately and fairly made against the assessment criteria
- are consistent across different assessors, and
- are clearly and accurately recorded and accessible to all authorised parties.

ICA is also committed to ensuring that assessment decisions are undertaken in-line with our policies, and the requirements of the apprenticeship assessment plan.

Our assessments and the work of our assessors is quality assured through:

- monitoring of assessment delivery (including observation of assessment and review of documentation) by senior assessor(s)
- monitoring of assessment delivery and outcomes by an appointed Internal Quality Assurer (IQA)
- reviews of feedback received from training providers, employers and apprentices, and
- reviews of assessment reports and outcomes by the ICA.

Internal quality assurance (IQA)

Internal quality assurance refers to how the ICA ensures valid, consistent and reliable EPA decisions. The ICA must adhere to the requirements as set out within:

- ICA policies and procedures
- Ofqual conditions of recognition
- the roles and responsibilities section of the assessment plan.

The ICA will also:

- have quality assurance systems and procedures that ensure fair, reliable and consistent EPA regardless of employer, place, time or independent assessor
- appoint independent assessors who are competent to deliver the EPA and who have recent relevant experience of the occupation or sector.

Internal Quality Assurance (IQA) is a critical element of how the ICA manages the EPA quality assurance processes, with specific relevance to our requirements for:

- validity the extent to which assessments meet their intended uses
- reliability that the EPA produces consistent outcomes irrespective of context, cohort, timing, or the organisations involved
- comparability that the assessments under review are comparable in standard between assessments within an apprenticeship, between similar apprenticeships, with other awarding organisations, and over time
- manageability that ICA's EPA does not place unreasonable demands on apprentices
- minimising bias ensuring that the assessment does not produce unreasonably adverse outcomes for apprentices who share a common attribute.

Role of an IQA

The Internal Quality Assurer (IQAs) will be an experienced assessor and/or expert in the field who is independent from the end point assessments being reviewed.

IQAs are responsible for quality assuring the administration and assessment decisions of assessors through observation and sampling.

IQAs will (through recording or live attendance) observe assessors carrying out assessment to ensure that the assessment is being administered safely, securely and in line with ICA's assessment guidance and the published end-point assessment plan.

IQA reporting ensures thorough and robust quality assurance is maintained to meet regulatory requirements.

5.6 Grading

At the conclusion of the EPA, the independent assessor collates the evidence and determines the provisional overall grading for the apprenticeship based upon the grading rules outlined within the assessment plan for the apprenticeship.

The appointed assessor makes the provisional grading decision and submits them to the ICA.

Confirming results

Once the IQA has completed their review and submitted their reports to ICA, the results are then reviewed and ratified by the ICA.

The ICA will consider if there are concerns about the validity or consistency of assessment or where there are circumstances relating to the apprentice that the assessor may not have been aware of.

Ultimate responsibility for deciding to award a pass grade to an apprentice who has completed the EPA process lies with the ICA.

Prior to finalising and reporting results, the ICA will:

- ensure assessment standards have been appropriately set and maintained
- ensure that assessors have conducted their role in a consistent manner and made appropriate and reliable assessment decisions
- ensure that all results have been subject to the relevant IQA process
- ensure that all assessments have been conducted in line with the published assessment plan
- consider any special considerations and check all agreed reasonable adjustments have been applied fairly
- discuss all exceptional cases to decide on final grades.

5.7 Re-sits and re-takes

Apprentices who fail one or more assessment methods will be offered the opportunity to take a re-sit or a re-take.

A re-sit does not require further learning, whereas a re-take does.

The employer and EPAO agree the timescale for a re-sit or re-take. A re-sit is typically taken within two months of the EPA outcome notification. The timescale for a re-take is dependent on how much re-training is required and is typically taken within three months of the EPA outcome notification.

Failed assessment methods must be re-sat or re-taken within a six-month period from the EPA outcome notification, otherwise the entire EPA will need to be re-sat or re-taken in full.

The apprentice's employer will need to agree that either a re-sit or re-take is an appropriate course of action.

Re-sits and re-takes are not offered to apprentices who have passed and who want to achieve a higher grade, such as those wishing to move from pass to distinction.

Where any assessment method has to be re-sat or re-taken, the apprentice will be awarded a maximum EPA grade of pass, unless the ICA determines there are exceptional circumstances requiring a re-sit or re-take.

5.8 Apprenticeship results and certificates

ICA will inform apprentices of the outcome of their EPA once all of the necessary quality assurance has been completed. The apprentice's employer and training provider will also be informed.

ICA will record results with the Department for Education and will request a certificate on behalf of an apprentice. The certificate will be sent by postal delivery to the employer address provided by the training provider.

Information on how to appeal the outcome of an EPA can be found in ICA's Appeal Policy.

5.9 Certification review or recall

Occasionally, situations may arise that call into the question the validity of an awarding decision. These include:

- an appeal in accordance with our Appeals Policy
- an investigation in accordance with our Malpractice and Maladministration Policy
- an error or material inconsistency occurring in an assessment or marking or result allocation arrangements, and
- an error is made that has a material effect on the apprentice's outcome (i.e. the wrong grade was given).

Once an issue has been investigated and a final decision made in-line with the relevant procedures for the area (e.g. appeal), ICA will amend the relevant apprentice's record (or the records of groups of apprentices if the investigation indicates the issue affects more than one apprentice), to reflect the new award or indicate that an earlier award has been withdrawn or amended.

ICA will then be responsible for ensuring that the relevant apprentices, training providers and employers are informed of the revised awarding decision and the decision to revoke the original outcome (if they have been issued already), in accordance with our stated Appeals and Malpractice and Maladministration Policies.

The amended results and outcomes will be communicated to the ESFA so that they can address any certification issues. As soon as we become aware of a possible issue, Ofqual will be informed and kept updated as there is a risk of an adverse effect.

6. Grading and mapping of KSBs

The below table provides each of the Knowledge, Skills and Behaviours (KSBs) of the Standard with the assessment method to be used.

For each of the KSBs, grading criteria are provided for Fail, Pass and Distinction.

Each grading criterion is a minimum and additional performance areas, in line with the KSBs and expectations set out below, can contribute to the overall grade for each Assessment Method.

The End Point Assessment is a holistic assessment and the KSBs can be indirectly assessed, i.e. demonstrating an assumed level of knowledge, exhibited skill or demonstrated behaviour, if it can be evidenced that the completion of a task or result achieved will have required this.

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviour assessed	Description	Assessment method (Knowledge Test, Project Presentation or Portfolio Interview)	Fail: Apprentice does not meet the pass criteria	Pass: Apprentice meets all of the below pass criteria	Distinction: Apprentice meets all of the pass criteria and all of the below distintion criteria
Skills	What is required (advancing key	skills to support	t progression to mana	gement)	
IT	Skilled in the use of multiple IT packages and systems relevant to the organisation in order to: write letters or emails, create proposals, perform financial processes, record and analyse data. Examples include MS Office or equivalent packages. Able to choose the most appropriate IT solution to suit the business problem. Able to update and review databases, record information and produce data analysis where required.	Portfolio interview or Project presentation	 Has not demonstrated they can use IT packages Unable to provide quality examples of when they have used IT packages without mistakes 	 Demonstrates they can use IT packages, specifically to write letters or emails, and to record and analyse information Able to perform tasks relevant to their role using IT packages without supervision 	 Consistently demonstrates they can use IT packages and can provide varied, quality examples Able to perform tasks relevant to their role using IT packages and can coach others in using IT

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviour assessed	Description	Assessment method (Knowledge Test, Project Presentation or Portfolio Interview)	Fail: Apprentice does not meet the pass criteria	Pass: Apprentice meets all of the below pass criteria	Distinction: Apprentice meets all of the pass criteria and all of the below distintion criteria
Record and document production	Produces accurate records and documents including: emails, letters, files, payments, reports and proposals. Makes recommendations for improvements and present solutions to management. Drafts correspondence, writes reports and able to review others' work. Maintains records and files, handles confidential information in compliance with the organisation's procedures. Coaches others in the processes required to complete these tasks.	Portfolio interview	 Frequent mistakes in written documentation, requiring regular correction Zero or very few workable recommendations are made Communications not kept confidential 	 Records are accurate, rarely require correction and are treated confidentially Recommendations and solutions only need minor improvements Supports others in producing documents and can provide examples 	 Records are consistently accurate and confidential Recommendations are insightful, clearly recorded and results in a clear benefit to the organisation Offers to coach others and good performance is recorded in feedback

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviour assessed	Description	Assessment method (Knowledge Test, Project Presentation or Portfolio Interview)	Fail: Apprentice does not meet the pass criteria	Pass: Apprentice meets all of the below pass criteria	Distinction: Apprentice meets all of the pass criteria and all of the below distintion criteria
Decision making	Exercises proactivity and good judgement. Makes effective decisions based on sound reasoning and is able to deal with challenges in a mature way. Seeks advice of more experienced team members when appropriate.	Project presentation	 Frequently makes poor decisions and does not learn from mistakes Decision making is unreasoned Reacts unprofessionally to feedback 	 Decisions are thought through, using a range of information to make a sound judgement Challenges appropriately and is polite when doing so Exercises sound judgement when asking for advice by choosing the appropriate time, manner and person 	 Decisions are timely and consistently show good judgement Decisions are continuously made by thoughtfully considering different information and the risks of any action Decisions are fully evidenced and justifiable Consistently behaves and seeks advice in a mature way

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviour assessed	Description	Assessment method (Knowledge Test, Project Presentation or Portfolio Interview)	Fail: Apprentice does not meet the pass criteria	Pass: Apprentice meets all of the below pass criteria	Distinction: Apprentice meets all of the pass criteria and all of the below distintion criteria
Interpersonal skills	Builds and maintains positive relationships within their own team and across the organisation. Demonstrates ability to influence and challenge appropriately. Becomes a role model to peers and team members, developing coaching skills as they gain area knowledge.	Portfolio interview or Project presentation	 Does not work effectively with others Does not exhibit role model behaviours Does not seek to develop coaching skills 	 Works effectively with a range of people Influences and challenges peers when necessary Supports others in the organisation and demonstrates coaching skills 	 Influences managers as well as peers Constructively challenges managers, as well as peers, when necessary Proactively offers to coach others and has had good performance recorded in feedback

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviour assessed	Description	Assessment method (Knowledge Test, Project Presentation or Portfolio Interview)	Fail: Apprentice does not meet the pass criteria	Pass: Apprentice meets all of the below pass criteria	Distinction: Apprentice meets all of the pass criteria and all of the below distintion criteria
Communications	Demonstrates good communication skills, whether face-to-face, on the telephone, in writing or on digital platforms. Uses the most appropriate channels to communicate effectively. Demonstrates agility and confidence in communications, carrying authority appropriately. Understands and applies social media solutions appropriately. Answers questions from inside and outside of the organisation, representing the organisation or department.	Portfolio interview or Project presentation	 Communication is unclear, either verbally or in writing Chooses ineffective methods to communicate, e.g. social media for sensitive work-related information Regularly leaves queries unresolved 	 Demonstrates they can communicate clearly, in both written and verbal communication Shows flexibility to different situations Uses appropriate communication channels dependent on the subject matter Demonstrates ability to answer queries effectively from both inside and outside the organisation 	 Communication is consistently clear, both written and verbally Champions an appropriate choice of communication channels Consistently answers queries from both inside and outside of the organisation in a confident way

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviour assessed	Description	Assessment method (Knowledge Test, Project Presentation or Portfolio Interview)	Fail: Apprentice does not meet the pass criteria	Pass: Apprentice meets all of the below pass criteria	Distinction: Apprentice meets all of the pass criteria and all of the below distintion criteria
Quality	Completes tasks to a high standard. Demonstrates the necessary level of expertise required to complete tasks and applies themselves to continuously improve their work. Is able to review processes autonomously and make suggestions for improvements. Shares administrative best-practice across the organisation e.g. coaches others to perform tasks correctly. Applies problem-solving skills to resolve challenging or complex complaints and is a key point of contact for addressing issues.	Portfolio interview	 Consistently makes mistakes in work that require correction Fails to reflect on learning and share it with others Unable to work autonomously 	 Checks own work before submission and makes improvements Work is largely accurate and meets expectations Identifies areas for improvement and can justify why Promotes best practice examples of administration, such as accurate records 	 Takes ownership for work and applies processes for checking work Work is consistently accurate and meets the agreed outcomes Recommends and implements process improvements Proactively offers to coach others in an area of work and communicates requirements for work

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviour assessed	Description	Assessment method (Knowledge Test, Project Presentation or Portfolio Interview)	Fail: Apprentice does not meet the pass criteria	Pass: Apprentice meets all of the below pass criteria	Distinction: Apprentice meets all of the pass criteria and all of the below distintion criteria
Planning and organisation	Takes responsibility for initiating and completing tasks, manages priorities and time in order to successfully meet deadlines. Positively manages the expectations of colleagues at all levels and sets a positive example for others in the workplace. Makes suggestions for improvements to working practice, showing understanding of implications beyond the immediate environment (e.g. impact on clients, suppliers, other parts of the organisation). Manages resources e.g. equipment or facilities. Organises meetings and events, takes minutes during meetings and creates action logs as appropriate. Takes responsibility for logistics e.g. travel and accommodation.	Portfolio interview or Project presentation	 Does not plan work effectively Ineffective at managing expectations and unrealistic when setting timescales Does not demonstrate an awareness of the wider environment 	 Plans work and achieves deadlines Shares areas to improve plans with others Effectively manages resources and meetings Takes responsibility for logistics and can provide examples 	 Makes plans that efficiently maximise resources and personally ensures results are achieved Improves the management of resources e.g. identifies cost savings or process improvements Is proactive in taking responsibility for areas of logistics and has excellent examples to demonstrate this

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviour assessed	Description	Assessment method (Knowledge Test, Project Presentation or Portfolio Interview)	Fail: Apprentice does not meet the pass criteria	Pass: Apprentice meets all of the below pass criteria	Distinction: Apprentice meets all of the pass criteria and all of the below distintion criteria
Project management	Uses relevant project management principles and tools to scope, plan, monitor and report. Plans required resources to successfully deliver projects. Undertakes and leads projects as and when required.	Project presentation or Knowledge test	 Project management is not effective, e.g. lack of plans or unrealistic expectations and execution Cannot demonstrate an understanding of project management tools and principles 	 Effectively plans and manages small projects Able to lead small projects when required Demonstrates some understanding of project management tools and principles 	 Plans and manages a significant project and can describe what made it a success Demonstrates strong leadership skills when managing a project Understands and is able to apply a strong grasp of project management tools and principles

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviour assessed	Description	Assessment method (Knowledge Test, Project Presentation or Portfolio Interview)	Fail: Apprentice does not meet the pass criteria	Pass: Apprentice meets all of the below pass criteria	Distinction: Apprentice meets all of the pass criteria and all of the below distintion criteria
Knowledge	What is required (in-depth know	ledge of organis	sation and wider busir	ness environment)	
The organisation	Understands organisational purpose, activities, aims, values, vision for the future, resources and the way that the political/ economic environment affects the organisation.	Portfolio interview or Knowledge test (political/ economic environment)	 Does not show any knowledge of the organisation's purpose, aims and ways of working Cannot demonstrate an understanding of the political and economic environment 	 Shows a working knowledge of the organisation's purpose, aims and ways of working, putting it in context of the local (or sector) environment Provides some understanding of the political and economic environment 	Shows a thorough understanding of the organisation's purpose, aims and way of working, putting it in context of the wider economy and political environment

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviour assessed	Description	Assessment method (Knowledge Test, Project Presentation or Portfolio Interview)	Fail: Apprentice does not meet the pass criteria	Pass: Apprentice meets all of the below pass criteria	Distinction: Apprentice meets all of the pass criteria and all of the below distintion criteria
Value of their skills	Knows organisational structure and demonstrates understanding of how their work benefits the organisation. Knows how they fit within their team and recognises how their skills can help them to progress their career.	Portfolio interview or Project presentation	 Shows a limited understanding of the organisation Cannot identify how their work contributes or how they fit within the team 	 Understands the structure of the organisation and how their work contributes Identifies their role within the team and value of their skills 	 Understands the structure of the organisation and is able to discuss how different teams support each other Understands the contribution their work makes and promotes its value
					 Identifies their role within the team and is able to compare their skills with others

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviour assessed	Description	Assessment method (Knowledge Test, Project Presentation or Portfolio Interview)	Fail: Apprentice does not meet the pass criteria	Pass: Apprentice meets all of the below pass criteria	Distinction: Apprentice meets all of the pass criteria and all of the below distintion criteria
Stakeholders	Has a practical knowledge of managing stakeholders and their differing relationships to an organisation. This includes internal and external customers, clients and/or suppliers. Liaises with internal/external customers, suppliers or stakeholders from inside or outside the UK. Engages and fosters relationships with suppliers and partner organisations.	Portfolio interview or Project presentation and may also be demonstrated in the Knowledge test (stakeholder management principles)	 Does not understand the principles of stakeholder management Does not build good relationships 	 Understands how to manage stakeholders, e.g. clarifying and delivering on expectations Demonstrates they have worked with stakeholders to achieve results 	 Understands and follows the principles of stakeholder management Goes beyond expectations to build constructive relationships with stakeholders

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviour assessed	Description	Assessment method (Knowledge Test, Project Presentation or Portfolio Interview)	Fail: Apprentice does not meet the pass criteria	Pass: Apprentice meets all of the below pass criteria	Distinction: Apprentice meets all of the pass criteria and all of the below distintion criteria
Relevant regulation	Understands laws and regulations that apply to their role including data protection, health and safety, compliance etc. Supports the company in applying the regulations.	Knowledge test or Portfolio interview	 Does not know the relevant laws and regulation for their job and has not followed them in the past 	 Demonstrates knowledge of relevant laws and regulation and consistently follows them 	Shows a thorough knowledge of relevant laws and regulations and consistently follows them
					 Champions adherence to relevant laws and regulation within the organisation
Policies	Understands the organisation's internal policies and key business policies relating to sector.	Portfolio interview	 Does not fully know or understand the organisation's internal policies 	 Understands and follows the organisation's internal policies 	 Understands and promotes the organisations internal policies

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviour assessed	Description	Assessment method (Knowledge Test, Project Presentation or Portfolio Interview)	Fail: Apprentice does not meet the pass criteria	Pass: Apprentice meets all of the below pass criteria	Distinction: Apprentice meets all of the pass criteria and all of the below distintion criteria
Business fundamentals	Understands the applicability of business principals such as managing change, business finances and project management.	Knowledge test	Does not know the fundamentals of business, including finances, managing change and project management	Knows the fundamentals of business, including finances, managing change and project management	Knows the fundamentals of business, can relate them to their administrative occupation and show how they make an impact

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviour assessed	Description	Assessment method (Knowledge Test, Project Presentation or Portfolio Interview)	Fail: Apprentice does not meet the pass criteria	Pass: Apprentice meets all of the below pass criteria	Distinction: Apprentice meets all of the pass criteria and all of the below distintion criteria
Processes	Understands the organisation's processes, e.g. making payments or processing customer data. Is able to review processes autonomously and make suggestions for improvements. Applying a solutions-based approach to improve business processes and helping define procedures. Understands how to administer billing, process invoices and purchase orders.	Project presentation	 Does not understand the processes of the organisation and follows them inconsistently Makes limited or impractical suggestions for improvements 	 Understands and consistently follows the organisation's processes Makes suggestions for small improvements and supports on successful implementation 	 Understands and follows organisational processes and promotes their adherence and improvement Able to identify inefficiencies or ineffectiveness in a process and support on successful implementation

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviour assessed	Description	Assessment method (Knowledge Test, Project Presentation or Portfolio Interview)	Fail: Apprentice does not meet the pass criteria	Pass: Apprentice meets all of the below pass criteria	Distinction: Apprentice meets all of the pass criteria and all of the below distintion criteria	
External environment factors	Understands relevant external factors e.g. market forces, policy and regulatory changes, supply chain etc. and the wider business impact. Where necessary, understands the international/global market	Knowledge test or Portfolio interview	Shows little understanding of how external factors affect the organisation	Understand the external factors affecting the organisation and how they relate to their role	Shows a deep understanding of the external factors facing the organisation and how they relate to their role	
	in which the employing organisation is placed.				 Seeks additional information about how those factors are developing 	
Behaviours	What is required (Role-model behaviours and positive contribution to culture)					

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviour assessed	Description	Assessment method (Knowledge Test, Project Presentation or Portfolio Interview)	Fail: Apprentice does not meet the pass criteria	Pass: Apprentice meets all of the below pass criteria	Distinction: Apprentice meets all of the pass criteria and all of the below distintion criteria
Professionalism	Behaves in a professional way. This includes: personal presentation, respect, respecting and encouraging diversity to cater for wider audiences, punctuality and attitude to colleagues, customers and key stakeholders. Adheres to the organisation's code of conduct for professional use of social media. Acts as a role model, contributing to team cohesion and productivity – representing the positive aspects of team culture and respectfully challenging inappropriate prevailing cultures.	Portfolio interview	 Does not behave in a professional way Has failed to be punctual on an ongoing basis and has shown a negative attitude towards colleagues Does not follow the standards of conduct required by the organisation Disrespectful to different backgrounds and does not challenge inappropriate prevailing cultures 	 Consistently behaves in a professional way, showing punctuality, respect for others and personal presentation Follows the standard of conduct required by the organisation 	 Is a role model employee, showing professionalism in their conduct, punctuality, presentation and respect for others, irrespective of background; even in difficult circumstances Can be relied upon to represent the team and be an ambassador for the organisation

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviour assessed	Description	Assessment method (Knowledge Test, Project Presentation or Portfolio Interview)	Fail: Apprentice does not meet the pass criteria	Pass: Apprentice meets all of the below pass criteria	Distinction: Apprentice meets all of the pass criteria and all of the below distintion criteria
Personal qualities	Shows exemplary qualities that are valued including integrity, reliability, self-motivation, being pro-active and a positive attitude. Motivates others where responsibility is shared.	Portfolio interview or Project presentation	Has not shown integrity, reliability, positivity and self-motivation	Regularly shows integrity, reliability, positivity and self- motivation	Always shows integrity, reliability, positivity and self-motivation and successfully encourages others to show more of these qualities

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviour assessed	Description	Assessment method (Knowledge Test, Project Presentation or Portfolio Interview)	Fail: Apprentice does not meet the pass criteria	Pass: Apprentice meets all of the below pass criteria	Distinction: Apprentice meets all of the pass criteria and all of the below distintion criteria
Managing performance	Takes responsibility for their own work, accepts feedback in a positive way, uses initiative and shows resilience. Also takes responsibility for their own development, knows when to ask questions to complete a task and informs their line manager when a task is complete. Performs thorough selfassessments of their work and complies with the organisation's procedures.	Portfolio interview or Project presentation	 Does not ask questions or clarify expectations Negative attitude towards supervision and coaching to deliver their work to the agreed level of quality Cannot demonstrate a constructive response to feedback 	 Clarifies requirements and takes responsibility for work produced Acts with responsibility and delivers their work to the right level of quality without requiring additional supervision and coaching Asks for feedback and takes feedback on board 	 Shows a strong personal responsibility for all aspects of their work and can work with minimal supervision, whist adhering to policies, procedures and standards. Takes feedback on board and continually assesses the quality of their work

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviour assessed	Description	Assessment method (Knowledge Test, Project Presentation or Portfolio Interview)	Fail: Apprentice does not meet the pass criteria	Pass: Apprentice meets all of the below pass criteria	Distinction: Apprentice meets all of the pass criteria and all of the below distintion criteria
Adaptability	Is able to accept and deal with changing priorities related to both their own work and to the organisation.	Portfolio interview or Project presentation	Can be disorientated by, or defensive towards, change	 Accepts and responds positively to change 	Accepts change, evaluates the impact of any change and seeks to use it to improve their work

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviour assessed	Description	Assessment method (Knowledge Test, Project Presentation or Portfolio Interview)	Fail: Apprentice does not meet the pass criteria	Pass: Apprentice meets all of the below pass criteria	Distinction: Apprentice meets all of the pass criteria and all of the below distintion criteria
Responsibility	Demonstrates taking responsibility for team performance and quality of projects delivered. Takes a clear interest in seeing that projects are successfully completed and customer requests handled appropriately. Takes initiative to develop own and others' skills and behaviours.	Portfolio interview or Project presentation	Shifts responsibility to others and excuses the situation when levels of quality or efficiency are not met	 Accepts personal responsibility for their own work, delivering their work on time and to the right level of quality Demonstrates ownership and willingness to see work completed Applies initiative in developing their own skills and behaviours 	 Role model who takes personal responsibility for themselves and peers Aims to deliver work within targets and deliver more than required in their role Proactively seeks opportunities to develop themselves and shares this learning with others

The following grade boundaries apply to the knowledge test:

Grade	Minimum score	Maximum score
Distinction	40	50
Pass	30	39
Fail	0	29



International Compliance Association - Head Office

Fort Dunlop, 6th Floor, Fort Parkway, Birmingham, B24 9FD, United Kingdom +44 (0) 121 362 7534 | epa@int-comp.org | www.int-comp.org